
United Nations 

GENERAL 
ASSEMBLY 
THIRTEENTH SESSION 

Official Records 

CONTENTS 

Agenda item 59: 
Question of convening a second United Nations con

ference on the law of the sea (continued) 
General debate (continued) .•..•••.••.•.••• 

Chairman: Mr. Jorge CASTANEDA (Mexico). 

AGENDA ITEM 59 

197 

Question of convening a second United Nations con
ference on the law of the sea (A/3831; A/C.6/L.435, 
A/C.6/L.438, A/C.6/L.440) (continued) 

GENERAL DEBATE (continued) 

1. Mr. HSU (China) said that it could not be denied 
that many rules of the lawofthe sea were of arbitrary 
origin; that they had become rules simply because in 
each case the State adversely affected hadbeenunable 
to change them; and that even at present there were 
no uniform rules governing certain questions. It would 
not be valid, however, to drawtheconclusionfrom that 
situation that each State was its own master in the 
question of the sea and could lay down rules in ac
cordance with its own interests, thus unilaterally 
making international law. In fact, pronouncements by 
States became international law only when they were 
accepted or acquiesced in by the other States affected. 

2. The community of nations was now better organized 
than previously and it had to harmonize, or humanize, 
the rules inherited from the past. It was satisfactory 
to note that even those States which claimed that uni
lateral State action could make international law agreed 
that the questions left pending at Geneva should be 
settled by a new conference. 
3. His delegation sympathized with the aspirations 
of those who pleaded that in the matter of fisheries 
the coastal State should be given more consideration 
than in the past. His delegation congratulated the advo
cates of that view for accepting to submit their griev
ances at a conference and hoped that their case would 
meet with satisfaction. 
4. The Conventions agreed upon at the Geneva Con
ference contained rules which justified the appropria
tion by States of bays which would otherwise be con
sidered part of the high seas. The Convention on the 
Continental Shelf11 had also placed the sea-bed and 
subsoil of a part of the high seas under the sovereignty 
of the coastal State. It was therefore reasonable to 
expect that at a new conference the claims of coastal 
peoples who depended on fisheries would receive the 
same consideration as that given at Geneva to the 
questions of the bays and continental shelf. 

1/ United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea, Of
ficial records, Volume II: Plenary Meetings (United Nations 
publication, Sales No.: 5B.V.4, Vol.II), annexes, documentAl 
CONF .13/L.55. 

SIXTH COIUIITTEE 589th 
MHTIHG 

Wednesday, 26 November 1958, 
at 10.50 a.m. 

NEW YORK 

5. There seemed to be a general realization that the 
two questions pending should be solved by adjusting 
existing law to the times, and that the adjustment should 
be made by taking together the two closely-related 
questions of the breadth of the territorial sea and 
fishery limits. Unless those two key questions were 
settled, the work of codifying the law of the sea would 
remain incomplete and anarchy would continue to pre
vail. 
6. His delegation accordingly supported the proposal 
to call a second conference, and believed that it should 
be held soon, preferably in the middle of 1959. 

7. Mr. STEWART (Union of South Africa) said that 
it was essential for States to join in making common 
rules of international law on the two questions out
standing and to reconcile their widely divergent views, 
thus providing a basis for the settlement of existing 
disputes and the avoidance of further disputes. 
8. The adoption by the Geneva Conference on 27 April 
1958 of a resolution for a new conference.V showed 
that the majority of States concerned considered that 
the status guo was not satisfactory and that an agreed 
form of international regulation was desirable and 
necessary. 
9. His delegation was infavourofcallingaconference 
which should be adequately prepared. The Geneva 
Conference had failed to agree on the questions of the 
breadth of the territorial seaandfisherylimitschiefly 
because of the lack of diplomatic and political prep
aration. It was therefore inadvisable to call the new 
conference for February 1959; the second half of1959 
seemed the earliest possible date which would allow 
for adequate preliminary work. 

10. On the other hand, it was not advisable to defer 
calling a conference too long, because further inter
national disputes could arise and existing ones become 
more difficult to settle. For those reasons, his dele
gation could not support the proposal to postpone the 
issue to the fourteenth session of the General Assem
bly nor could it support the seven-Power amendments 
(A/C.6/L.440) which would have the effect of leaving 
the unsettled questions in suspense until the end of 
1959. That state of uncertainty might prove well-nigh 
intolerable to States faced with immediate and immi
nent international difficulties, and could lead to actions 
which otherwise might have been more restrained 
and less likely to increase international tension. 

Il. Under the seven-Power amendments, it would not 
be known whether the General Assembly, at its four
teenth session, would actually deal with the substance 
of the matter; operative paragraph 1, if amended in the 
manner proposed, would refer to "the consideration 
of the substance of these questions, if so decided". 
Delegations at the fourteenth session would not know 
whether it would be "so decided", and therefore would 

Y Ibid., document A/CONF.l3/L.56, resolution VIII. 

197 A/C.6/SR.589 



198 General Assembly - Thirteenth Session - Sixth Committee 

not come prepared to draft a convention in the Sixth 
Committee at that session. The seven-Power amend
ments would, if adopted, mean that nothing would be 
done until 1960 at the earliest, and that until the end 
of 1959 it would not be known what action, if any, it 
was proposed to take, and when. 
12. For all those reasons, his delegation favoured 
the holding of the conference in July or August 1959 
as proposed in the joint draft resolution (A/C.6/L.435). 

13. Mr. CACHO ZABALZA (Spain) said that there 
appeared to be general agreement on the obvious need 
for a second conference. The only disagreement was 
on the time and place. His delegation wouldprefer the 
month of August and Geneva, though it would not oppose 
New York. 
14. The Spanish delegation believed it advisable not 
to allow too much time to elapse before the second 
conference met, since that might lead to each coastal 
State solving the question by unilateral decision, lead
ing to a condition of real anarchy. 
15. The Geneva Conference had adopted four Con
ventions which had so far been signed by a large num
ber of States and were well on the way to becoming 
generally applicable. That contribution to the pro
gressive development of the law of the sea would, 
however, remain without effect unless rules concern
ing the breadth of the territorial sea and the limits 
of the jurisdiction of the coastal State in the matter of 
fisheries were duly laid down. If those matters were 
left to the unilateral decisions of States, conflicts 
could arise which would jeopardize good international 
relations and harmfully affect the livelihood of a large 
number of persons who were dependent on the living 
resources of the sea. The result would be to imperil 
peace and security, the maintenance of which consti
tuted the foremost aim of the United Nations. 

16. The Geneva Conference had failed to settle the 
two basic questions of the breadth of the territorial 
sea and fishery limits by a small difference of two 
votes against; the Conference, however, had agreed 
by a large majority on the desirability of holding a 
second conference which, if held after a period of 
consultations, would be able by means of mutual con
cessions to reach acceptable solutions. 

17. The delegations most concerned in the dispute 
had already intimated that they would attend the second 
conference with a ready willingness to compromise 
in order to arrive at a settlement. The United King
dom delegation had intimated (584th meeting, para. 24) 
that if it did not prove possible to settle the matter of 
fishery limits, the United Kingdom would be prepared 
to bring its dispute with Iceland before the International 
Court of Justice. 

18. The Icelandic representative had, for his part, 
pointed out (583rd meeting, para. 9) that the Geneva 
Conference had thrown much light on the issues in
volved and had cleared the way for further work. 

19. The Spanish delegation believed that it was not 
for the Sixth Committee to suggesttermsforthe solu
tion of the two questions outstanding; that could only 
emerge from the discussions of the second conference. 
In view of the spirit of understanding and compromise 
announced by the parties, his delegation thought that 
a second conference might succeed in settling a cha
otic situation which could lead to serious international 
complications, which must be avoided at all costs. 

20. The Spanish delegation would vote in favour ofthe 
joint draft resolution, and would suggest that the Con
ference be convened in August 1959 at Geneva. 

21. Mr. EL-ABDALLAH (Lebanon) said thatthe Sixth 
Committee debate had shown a wide divergence of views 
concerning the advisability of a new conference. 

22. It was a little disturbing to small new nations like 
Lebanon to listen to arguments based on political con
siderations presented as legal formulas. It was ap
parent that the legal aspects of the questions at issue 
were only a by-product of political questions. 

23. Although Lebanon was not a maritime Power and 
did not possess a large fishing fleet, it would like to 
see the questions of the breadth of the territorial sea 
and fishery limits settled in a manner satisfactory to 
all the parties concerned. His delegation favoured 
international co-operation, and believed that a compro
mise achieved at the conference table was indeed the 
best solution for the questions outstanding. His dele
gation, however, did not believe that there were any 
new circumstances to warrant the holding of a new 
confe renee in six or seven months' time, unless nations 
were prepared to attend it in a spirit of compromise. 
It was essential that the new conference should not 
constitute a mere continuation of the Geneva discus
sion. 

24. The position of Lebanon on the substance of the 
matter had not changed since the Geneva Conference, 
where the Lebanese delegation had warned that any 
attempt to arrive at a single set of rules to cover 
totally different situations would only lead to deadlock 
and had stated: 

"The only practical solution was a plural one with 
regard both to time and to space. It was necessary 
to recognize the right of a State to modify the extent 
of its territorial sea in time of war. In addition, 
States had to be allowed to fix the breadth of their 
territorial sea between a minimum of three miles 
and a maximum to be agreed-one, however, which 
should not in any case exceed ten or twelve 
miles".Y 

25. The Geneva Conference had succeeded in codi
fying the easier aspects of the law of the sea, but had 
failed to settle the more difficult questions of the 
breadth of the territorial sea and fishery limits. If a 
new conference was to succeed on those two thorny 
problems, a greater spirit of compromise would have 
to be shown. If the majority desired a conference, the 
Lebanese delegation would not oppose it, but warned 
that it could only succeed if there were a better under
standing of the aspirations of the smaller nations and 
a realization that the rules of the law of the sea had 
to be changed with changing times. 

26. Lebanon, being a small nation, shared small 
nations' fears of economic and political encroachment 
by stronger Powers. As an Arab country, Lebanon was 
also concerned with the conflict in the territorial 
waters of the Arab States and in the question of the 
Gulf of Aqaba. 

27. Mr. ABDESSELAM (Tunisia) said that, in giving 
his delegation's point of view, he would endeavour so 
far as possible to confine himself to the procedural 
questions whether a new conference should be called 

Y Ibid., Volume III: First Committee (United Nations pub
lication, Sales No.: 58.V.4, Vol.III), 16th meeting, para. 33. 



58 9th meeting - 26 November 1958 . 199 

and, if so, on what date. Nevertheless, the discussion 
could not be confined strictly to procedure andhe was 
therefore bound to touchoncertainpointsofsubstance. 

28. The results of the Geneva Conference needed 
little further comment. On 30 October 1958 Tunisia 
signed the Convention on the Territorial Sea and the 
Contiguous Zone, the Convention on the High Seas the 
Convention on Fishing and Conservation of the Li~ing 
Resources of the High Seas and the Convention on the 
Continental Shelf. Moreover, a beginning had been made 
to obtain the ratification of those instruments. 

29. The results of the Geneva Conference were in 
his view, important in three respects. First, from

1

the 
technical point of view, the Conference had accomp
lished a considerable task in adopting a number of 
provisions on matters which had thus far been re- : 
garded as pertaining to pure science; the two most · 
striking examples were the conservation of the living 
resources of the sea and the continental shelf. Secondly, 
the Conference had succeeded in codifying a very 
important branch of international law; that achieve
ment was in many ways unsurpassed and a source of 
encouragement for the future. Lastly, the general 
spirit of the Conference had revealed a wholly new 
trend. More than eighty States had taken part, includ
ing some which had been on the international scene 
for many years and others which had only made their 
appearance thereon recently. Not all of them were 
equal in material power, nor did they all share the 
same political, social and economic organization or the 
same ideology. Yet the Conference had witnessed a 
practical application of the principle of equality of 
States: all those present had participated in the elab
oration of rules of international law on an equal foot
ing. 
30. For all that, not all of the results of the Geneva 
Conference had been positive. The Conference had 
left in suspense the two important questions of historic 
waters and archipelagos, and-what was even more 
serious-had failed to establish the breadth of the 
territorial sea and of the fishery zones reserved to 
the coastal State. That was why the Conference had 
adopted its resolution of 27 April 1958, recognizing 
its failure to solve certain questions and requesting 
the thirteenth session of the General Assembly to 
study the advisability of calling a second conference. 
In his view, there was nothing more to the resolution 
than that, and the Conference had not prejudged the 
desirability of a second conference in any way. The 
final decision therefore was one solely for the General 
Assembly. 

31. The Tunisian delegation had no hesitation in af
firming that such a conference was necessary, as it 
had always supported every proposal calling for a 
conference of plenipotentiaries, and recognized that 
in the case under discussion, such a meeting wa~ 
further necessitated by certain special considerations. 
In the first place, his delegation deplored the partial 
failure at Geneva, and believed that a solution of the 
unsettled questions was absolutely essential. Secondly, 
under Article 13, paragraph 1 of the Charter Member 
States were required to codify internation;l law and 
ensure its progressive development, and the work done 
at Geneva had only marked one stage in that process. 
And thirdly, his delegation supported any endeavour 
designed to affirm the supremacy of international law 
in relations between States, and shared the French 

representative's · regret that international law did not 
play a greater part in the work of the United Nations. 
He wished to stress, however, that small countries 
such as his would not be content With having rules of 
international law imposed upon them or with merely 
endorsing such rules. They were determined not to 
remain passive but to assist in the elaboration of the 
necessary provisions; and it was precisely because 
an international conference was the best instrument 
for the creation of generally acceptable standards that 
his delegation believed in the advisability of a second 
conference on the law of the sea to finish the work of 
the first. 

32. With reference to the date of the second confer
ence, he recalled that several delegations had pressed 
that it should be held in February or in the summer 
of 1959. They believed that the question of the breadth 
of the territorial sea and the related question of n!
served fishery zones were sufficiently ripe for dis
cussion to justify the hope that a solution could be 
reached speedily. But the Geneva Conference had come 
nowhere near to a solution of those two problems. 
Some speakers had referred to the United States pro
posal,1/ which had received 45 affirmative votes in 
plenary,§/ but that same proposal had been rejected 
in the First Committee by 38 votes to 36, with 9 ab
stentions.§/ In reality, therefore, that proposal was 
on the same footing as all the other proposals on the 
breadth of the territorial sea submitted to the Con
ference and not adopted. The Conference had decided 
absolutely nothing on that controversial issue and there 
were no grounds whatever for presumptions based on 
the numbers of votes cast for one proposal or another. 

33. The Conference had found it impossible to adopt 
a satisfactory rule, the deadlock having been caused 
by certain delegations which had tried to secure the 
adoption of a rigid and uniform standard applicable 
to all, instead of agreeing to a rule which would take 
into account the varying interests of individualStates. 
Yet the failure of TheHagueConferenceo£1930 should 
have served as a warning that a rule could never be 
generally acceptable unless it was based on reality; 
and the practice of States in the delimitation of their 
territorial waters was far from uniform. The fervent 
pleas heard both at Geneva and in the Sixth Committee 
on behalf of the three-mile rule as the sole unchal
lenged rule of international law would never conceal the 
fact that three miles could only be regarded as a min
imum, and that there was no accepted rule establish
ing the maximum. It was noteworthy that all the pro
posals put to the vote at Geneva had called for either 
a six or a twelve-mile limit. 

34. The defenders of the three-mile rule had often 
cited, in support of their thesis, excerpts from the 
decision of the International Court of Justice in the 
Fish~ies Case between the United Kingdom and Nor-
way. 7 That point had already been admirably dealt 
with by the Romanian representative, and a further 
study of the judgement had convinced the Tunisian 

jj Ibid., Volume II: Plenary Meetings (United Nations pub
lication, Sales No.: 58. V.4, Vol.II), annexes, document A/ 
CONF .13/L.29, 

§/ Ibid., 14th plenary meeting. 
P./ Ibid., Volume Ill: First Committee (United Nations pub

lication, Sales No.: 58.V.4, Vol.III), 57th meeting. 
7/ I.C.J. Reports 1951, p. 116. 



200 General Assembly - Thirteenth Session - Sixth Committee 

delegation that-leaving aside the fact that the judge
ment had no binding force except between the parties 
and in respect of that particular case-certain other 
relevant facts had not been duly stressed. 

35. The first of the passages usually quoted read as 
follows: 

"The delimitation of seaareashasalwaysaninter
national aspect; it cannot be dependent merely upon 
the will of the ·coastal State as expressed in its 
municipal law. Although it is true that the act of 
delimitation is necessarily a unilateral act, because 
only the coastal State is competent to undertake it, 
the validity of the delimitation with regard to other 
States depends upon international law."§/ 

And the second read: 

"It is the land which confers upon a coastal State 
a right to the waters off its coasts. It follows that 
while such a State must be allowed the latitude ne
cessary in order to be able to adapt its delimitation 
to practical needs and local requirements, the draw
ing of base-lines must not depart to any appreciable 
extent from the general direction of the coast." W 

36. Those passages were supposed to denounce the 
unilateral determination by the coastal State of the 
breadth of its territorial sea, and the defenders of the 
three-mile limit added that any such act by the coastal 
State could have no effect in international law unless 
it was recognized by other States. What they failed to 
point out, however, was that the Court's judgement had 
no bearing whatever on the breadth of the territorial 
sea. It was clearly stated in the Court's judgement 
that the subject of the dispute had been "the validity 
or otherwise under international law of the lines of 
delimitation of the Norwegian fisheries zone laid down 
by the Royal Decree of 1935" .10/The Court went on to 
say that the four-mile limit claimed by Norway had 
not been the subject of the dispute, and had in fact 
been acknowledged by the United Kingdom.lll Again, 
the operative part of the judgement established beyond 
all doubt that the Court had only concerned itself with 
"the method employed for the delimitation of the fish
eries zone by the Royal Norwegian Decree of July 
12th, 1935" and with "the base-lines fixed by the said 
Decree in application of this method" .Wit was thus 
clear that the Court had not considered the general 
principle of the breadth of the territorial sea but the 
very concrete question whether the Norwegian Gov
ernment, in establishing straight base-lines, had 
respected international law. 

37. Finally, the Court's judgement could not be fully 
appreciated without a consideration of the words which 
appeared between the two oft-quoted passages and 
which read as follows: 

"In this connexion, certain basic considerations 
tnherent in the nature of the territorial sea, bring 
to light certain criteria which, though not entirely 
precise, can provide courts with an adequate basis 
for their decisions, which can be adapted to the 
diverse facts in question. 

§/ Ibid., p. 132. v Ibid., p. 133 
!Q/ Ibid •• p. 125. 
ill Ibid .• p. 126. 
w Ibid .• p. 143. 

"Among these considerations, some reference 
must be made to the close dependence of the terri
torial sea upon the land domain." W 

The judgement as a whole showed, therefore, that in 
speaking of "delimitation" the Court hadnotenvisaged 
a State's decision regarding the breadth of its terri
torial sea but merely the method which it had em
ployed in order to show where its territorial sea began. 
There was thus nothing in the Court's judgement nor 
elsewhere in positive law to assist in the solution of 
the problem left unsettled by the Geneva Conference. 

38. His delegation did not, of course, contend that 
each State could behave as it pleased. But there was 
a substantial body of precedent which indicated the 
applicable criteria, and, as long as it maintained those 
standards, the coastal State alone was competent to 
determine the breadth of its territorial sea in the 
light of its special circumstances and interests. As 
to the recognition of a State's unilateral decision by 
other States, the international community should strive 
to establish a general rule which would replace recog
nition-in itself unilateral and often arbitrary-by prior 
agreement. In other words, if there was a generally 
acceptable rule, any State which observed it would no 
longer need the recognition of others. 

39. In conclusion, he expressed the belief that there 
had been no rapprochement between the conflicting 
positions maintained at the Geneva Conference, and 
that the second conference should not be called until 
there was some certainty that it would achieve posi
tive results. A new conference in the immediate future 
might perhaps solve the question of the fisheries zone, 
recently made more acute by the unfortunate experi
ence of which Iceland had been the victim, but a con
ference was a delicate instrument which should be used 
with great care. Any failure of the second conference 
would cast doubt on the value of conferences generally 
and injure the prestige of the United Nations~ Nor would 
an early conference be likely to improve the general 
international situation. In fact, the question of defining 
aggression had been deferred in 1957 for the very 
reason that the international situation made agreement 
thereon unlikely. Since few would argue thattheinter
national situation had sufficiently improved since that 
time to justify hopes for an early general agreement 
on the breadth of territorial waters, the decision on the 
second conference on the law of the sea must not be 
premature. 

40. Mr. GARCIA ROBLES (Mexico) recalled that in 
the First Committee of the Geneva Conference he had, 
as representative of Mexico, stated that the task of the 
Conference was to codify internationallawinamanner 
consistent with conditions existing in 1958, to establish 
the present position with regard to the delimitation 
of the territorial sea, and to determine the breadth 
regarded at present by the majority of the Governments 
represented at the Conference as satisfying the needs 
of their respective countries.W 

41. For that reason, his delegation had proposed that 
the Secretariat should draw up, in consultation with 
delegations, a summary table of the provisions of the 
laws and regulations in force in the States represented 

!Y Ibid •• p. 133. 
W Uiiiied Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea, Of

ficial Records, Volume III: First Committee (United Nations 
publication, Sales No.:58. V.4, Vol.III), 20th meeting, para. 8. 



589th meeting- 26 November 1958 201 

at the Conference with regard to the breadth and 
juridical status of• the belt of sea adjacent to their 
coasts.!§/ From that document, which had been sub
sequently issued in revised form as a synaptical table 
(see A/C.6/L.438), it was apparent that the three
mile rule, which Gidel had referred to twenty-five 
years before as a "fallen idol", was now completely 
dead. International law, however, had to adapt itself 
to the conditions of actual life and not to anachronistic 
forms which represented only the interests of certain 
minorities. Any legal formula defining the breadth of 
the territorial sea should, therefore, be a faithful 
reflection of the customary rule of international law 
on the subject. That rule had a variable content and 
was based on the customary right of States and their 
sovereign power to fix varying limits for their terri
torial seas within reasonable bounds. That interna
tional customary rule was without any doubt the most 
important factor in the work of codification. The three
mile rule had no logical foundation, and although its 
advocates had not ventured to submit it to a vote at 
the Geneva Conference, or to defend it openly in the 
Sixth Committee, they had adopted the tactic of attack
ing, as "unilateral acts" of a purely internal char
acter, any Government decision proclaiming a breadth 
in excess of three miles. They had supported their 
argument by citing the passage, often quoted, from 
the judgement given by the International Court of 
Justice on 18 December 1951 in the Fisheries Case 
on the . international aspect of the delimitation of sea 
areas: 

"Although it is true that the act of delimitation i~;~ 
necessarily a unilateral act, because only the coastal 
State is competent to undertake it, the validity of 
the delimitation with regard to other States depends 
upon international law."!§./ 

That passage did not support but completely demol
ished the argument. The key words were undoubtedly 
"international law" and in using such language it was 
obvious that the Court had meant the internationallaw 
of today and not that of the time of Bynkershoek. 

42. The two chief sources of international law with 
regard to the breadth of the territorial sea were 
treaties and international custom. With· respect to the 
former, it had not only proved impossible to incorpo
rate any provision of that kind in the conventions 
recently concluded at Geneva, but, as was wellknown, 
it had never been possible to codify the question of the 
breadth of the territorial sea in an international instru
ment. In the absence of any contractual instrument, 
international custom had, up to the end of the nineteenth 
century, furnished the sole legal basis for the defunct 
three-mile rule. That rule had never been generally 
observed; it was never accepted by the Scandinavian 
States, the Mediterranean countries, Russia and 
various Latin American countries. Notwithstanding 
that lack of uniformity, the three-mile rule could have 
been justifiably invoked in 1899. Since thenhalfa cen
tury had passed. In 1958 the rule was repudiated by the 
immense majority of States. The only acceptable 
source of positive internationallawwasthepracticeof 
the day. In the draft articles adopted by the Interna
tional Law Commission at its eighth session (A/3159, 
para. 33), paragraph 2 of article 3 read as follows: 

!..§/Ibid., 14th meeting, para. 1. 
1§/ J.G.J. Reports 1951, p. 132. 

"The Commission considers that international law does 
not permit an extension of the territorial sea beyond 
twelve miles". That statement, interpreted in the light 
of the data supplied by the synoptic table, which showed 
that more than two-thirds of the coastal States of the 
world had established limits in excess of three miles, 
but in the majority of cases not over twelve miles, for 
their territorial seas, could be taken as constituting the 
customary rule of existing international law on the 
subject. The acts of those States which had set limits 
in excess of three miles could not be described as 
"unilateral acts"; on the contrary, those really guilty of 
"unilateral acts" were the States which had arrogated 
to themselves the power of prescribing, in a unilateral 
and arbitrary manner, limits of the territorial sea 
which had to be observed by all countries in the world. 
In so doing, they had, in effect, extended their pre
tensions to include the high seas, forgetting that 
article 1 of the Convention on the High Seas, which they 
themselves had signed at Geneva seven months before, 
provided that the term "high seas" should mean all 
parts of the sea that were not included in the territorial 
sea or in the internal waters of a State. 

43. With respect to the joint draft resolution (A/C.6/ 
L.435), he recalled that at the 583rd meeting he had 
asked two questions: first, whatfavourable new factors 
had arisen since the close of the Geneva Conference 
which gave reasonable justification for the hope that a 
second conference would prove successful in dealing 
with the topics left over from the first, and secondly, 
what formula, which would have to be an essentially 
arithmetical one, could offer reasonable prospects of 
achieving in 1959 what had proved impossible in 1958? 
In reply to the first, it must be stated that not only had 
no favourable new factor arisen but, on the contrary, 
one of the Member States of the United Nations, for
getting the obligations imposed on States by Article 2 
of the Charter to refrain in their international relations 
from the threat or use afforce, had created a situation 
in Icelandic waters which his delegation considered in
excusable. That situation was a new factor. In reply to 
the second question, it must be admitted that the spon
sors of the joint draft resolution had notproduced any 
new formula which had not already been exhaustively 
discussed at Geneva and rejected for not having re
ceived the requisite number of votes. In his opinion, 
the sole formula which would offer any prospects of 
success at a second conference would be the following 
proposal which had been submitted by Mexico and seven 
other Powers at the Geneva Conference: 

"1. Every State is entitled to fix the breadth of its 
territorial sea up to a limit of twelve nautical miles 
measured from the baseline which may be applicable 
in conformity with articles 4 and 5. 

"2. Where the breadth of its territorial sea is less 
than twelve nautical miles measured as above, a State 
has a fishing zone contiguous to its territorial sea 
extending to a limit twelve nautical miles from the 
baseline from which the breadth of its territorial sea 
is measured in which it has the same rights in 
respect of fishing and the eXPloitation of the living 
resources of the sea as it has in its territorial 
sea. "JJ./ 
JJ./ United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea, Of

ficial records, Volume II: Plenary Meetings (United Nations 
publication, Sales No.: 58.V.4, Vol.II), annexes, documentAl 
CONF .13/L.34. 



202 General Assembly - Thirteenth Session - Sixth Committee 

44. Since, however, the statements made by the spon
sors of the joint draft resolution did not offer the 
smallest hope that the above formula would receive the 
necessary number of votes, it must be concluded that 
a second conference would be doomed to a failure which 
would prevent the success of any new efforts for many 
years to come. For that reason, his delegation, after 
consultation with many other delegations, had joined in 
submitting the amendments to the joint draft resolution 
which were contained in document A/C.6/L.440. 

45'. The proposed fifth paragraph to the preamble 
stressed something which was not open to doubt, namely 
the necessity of undertaking considerable preparatory 
work so as to ensure reasonable probabilities of suc
cess. 

46. In the proposed operative paragraph 1, the word 
"procedure" had been used deliberately, since it was 
sufficiently flexible to include any method which the 
General Assembly might consider useful for reaching 
an agreement, whether calling a second conference on 
the law of the sea or the appointment of a good offices 
committee for the purpose of reducing areas of dis
agreement between Member States. By providing that 
the Assembly could consider the substance of the two 
pending questions, the same paragraph would make it 
possible .for an agreement to be concluded at the 
fourteenth session, or at a special conference im
mediately following it, provided that the optimistic 
predictions of the sponsors of the joint draft resolution 
proved justified. That procedure would have the advan
tage that if the necessary conditions for success were 
present, the desired result might be achieved not more 
than three or four months later than the date given in 
the joint draft resolution. On the other hand, it would 
avoid the danger of giving world opinion the impression 
of a complete failure should no agreement be reached 

Litho. in U.N. 

at an international conference convened especially for 
the purpose. 
47. Operative paragraph 2 made it clear that any 
decision on questions of such importance as the breadth 
of territorial waters and the extent of fishery limits 
would require a two-thirds majority vote, in conformity 
with the rules of procedure of the General Assembly. 

48. Operative paragraph 3 constituted an additional 
proof of the spirit of constructive co-operation with 
which the amendment was conceived, and operative 
paragraphs 4 and 5 made specific mention of an im
portant part of the preparatory work which would be 
required. 
49. Of course, apart from the formulation of the ob
servations referred to, it was essential that all threats 
or use of force in connexion with those questions should 
cease forthwith and that all Governments should en
deavour, by means of preliminary exchanges of views 
and negotiations of a bilateral or regional character, 
to prepare the ground adequately for the adoption in due 
course of a general legal formula which would be in 
conformity with contemporary international practice 
and which could satisfy the claims, aspirations and 
legitimate interests of the coastal State. 
50. Lastly, he expressed hisconvictionthatsooneror 
later the agreement sought for at Geneva concerning 
the breadth of the territorial sea would be reached; but 
since such an instrument would have to be ratified as 
well as signed by all or by a large majority of the Gov
ernments of the world, time would be needed as well 
as a flexible approach on the part of all concerned, and 
the Committee should let itself be guided by those time
worn proverbs, common to all countries, which warned 
against undue haste. 

The meeting rose at 1.5 p.m. 

77601-April 1959-2,050 


